

FOR CONSIDERATION

October 24, 2018

TO: The Board of Trustees

FROM: Thomas Falcone

SUBJECT: Approval of Amendments to the Authority's By-Laws and Committee Charters to Combine the Oversight and Reforming the Energy Vision Committees, and the Personnel and Compensation and Governance Committees

Requested Action

The Board of Trustees (the "Board") is requested to adopt a resolution, attached as **Exhibit "A"**, approving amendments to the Authority's by-laws and Committee Charters to combine the Oversight and Reforming the Energy Vision ("REV") Committees, and the Personnel and Compensation ("P&C") and Governance Committees for the Long Island Power Authority ("LIPA" or the "Authority"). Specifically, the Board is requested to approve: (i) amendments to the Governance, Oversight, REV, and P&C Charters to combine those Committees into two Committees to be named the "Oversight and REV Committee" and the "Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee", respectively; and (ii) amendments to the Authority's by-laws in furtherance of the change in Committee structure, as described above.

Discussion

The current Committee structure of the Authority's Board contemplates five (5) Committees, i.e. Finance and Audit ("F&A"), Oversight, REV, Governance, and P&C. The F&A and Governance Committees are required pursuant to the New York State Public Authorities Law. The remaining Committees were established pursuant to the Authority's by-laws.

In reviewing the roles and responsibilities associated with each of the Committees, the Chair of the Governance Committee, with the assistance of staff, has determined that certain Committee responsibilities overlap between the Committees. As such, for efficiency, the Chair proposes to combine the Oversight and REV Committees into one Committee named the "Oversight and REV Committee." Likewise, the Chair proposes to combine the Governance and P&C Committees into one Committee named the "Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee." These proposed changes were discussed with the Trustees at the Governance Committee meeting on September 27, 2018. In order to effectuate these changes, the Board must adopt revised Committee Charters, as set forth in **Exhibits "B"** and **"C"**, respectively, and to amend the Authority's by-laws consistent with those changes, as set forth in **Exhibit "D"**.

No change is proposed to the charter of the F&A Committee.

Recommendation

Based upon the foregoing, I recommend approval of the above requested action by adoption of the

Resolution in the form attached hereto.

Attachments

- Exhibit "A"** Resolution
- Exhibit "B"** Oversight and REV Committee Charter
- Exhibit "C"** Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee Charter
- Exhibit "D"** By-Laws (redline)
- Exhibit "E"** By-Laws (clean)

Exhibit "A"

RESOLUTION APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE AUTHORITY'S BY-LAWS AND COMMITTEE CHARTERS TO COMBINE THE OVERSIGHT AND REFORMING THE ENERGY VISION COMMITTEES, AND THE PERSONNEL AND COMPENSATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEES

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that consistent with the accompanying memorandum, the amendments to the Committee Charters and Authority by-laws, in the form attached hereto, are hereby approved.

Dated: October 24, 2018

OVERSIGHT AND REV COMMITTEE CHARTER

Long Island Power Authority

October 24, 2018

PURPOSE:

The Long Island Power Authority (the “Authority”) has responsibility for overseeing the performance of PSEG Long Island (“PSEG LI”) under the Amended and Restated Operations Services Agreement (“Amended OSA”), with the goal of ensuring that customers in the Service Territory receive safe, reliable, efficient, clean and affordable utility service.

Additionally, remaining knowledgeable and up-to-date on the principles, policies and recommendations of the New York Public Service Commission’s (“PSC”) Reforming the Energy Vision (“REV”) proceeding is a necessary part of carrying out the Authority’s obligations and oversight of PSEG LI.

To carry out these responsibilities the Board of Trustees has established the Oversight and REV Committee (the “Committee”) and assigned to it the responsibilities set forth below.

MEMBERSHIP:

The Committee shall consist of three or more Trustees, who shall be appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, the Chair of the Board of Trustees, including the member designated as its chair (“Committee Chair”). The members shall serve until their resignation, retirement, or removal by the Chair of the Board of Trustees. The Chair of the Board shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of the Committee. Each Committee member shall meet the independence requirements set forth in the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005¹.

MEETINGS:

Meetings of the Committee shall be convened by the Committee Chair and are authorized as often as the Committee Chair deems necessary, but not less than four times a year. A majority of the Committee members then sitting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power or function of the Committee.

Meeting agendas will be prepared for every meeting and provided to the Committee members at least two (2) days in advance of the scheduled meeting, along with appropriate materials needed to make informed decisions.

Meetings of the Committee shall be open to the public and governed by the rules regarding public meetings set forth in the applicable provisions of the Public Authorities Law and Article 7 of the

¹ An “independent” member is defined in the Act as one who: 1. is not, and in the past two years has not been a) employed by the public authority or an affiliate in an executive capacity; b) employed by an entity that has received remuneration valued at more than fifteen thousand dollars for goods and services provided to the public authority or received any other form of financial assistance valued at more than fifteen thousand dollars from the public authority; c) a lobbyist registered under a state or local law and paid by a client to influence the management decisions, contract awards, rate determinations or any other similar actions of the public authority or an affiliate; and 2. is not a relative of an executive officer or employee in an executive position of the public authority or an affiliate.

Public Officers Law that relate to public notice, public speaking and conduct of executive session, and minutes will be taken and maintained.

The Committee may request any officer or employee of the Authority, PSEG LI or the Authority's outside counsel or other consultants to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee.

RESPONSIBILITIES:

The Committee shall, with information supplied by Authority and PSEG LI staff:

- Monitor PSEG LI's performance under the Amended OSA related to: performance metrics; emergency management; transmission and distribution operations; energy efficiency and renewable goals; capital and operating budget expenditures; communications with stakeholders; customer service, billing and collections; power supply and fuel supply management (as carried out by PSEG Energy Resources & Trade); power markets activities; senior management staffing; and other matters related to PSEG LI's scope of services under the Amended OSA;
- Monitor PSEG LI's compliance with "Contract Standards" as defined in the Amended OSA, including compliance with applicable law and New York Public Service Commission practices; PSEG LI's environmental stewardship goals, and its compliance with policies adopted by the Authority and the State;
- Monitor PSEG LI's implementation of recommendations included in Management and Operations Audits conducted by the Department of Public Service;
- Review recommendations made by the Department of Public Service with respect to PSEG LI's performance and proposed programs, expenditures, and tariff changes²;
- As needed to assist the Board of Trustees in considering proposed renewable energy contracts or power supply or transmission transactions, review contracts and recommend appropriate action by the Board of Trustees;
- Review Authority management's operations and oversight process;
- Monitor the policies, principles and recommendations being advanced by the PSC in its REV proceeding;
- Monitor PSEG LI's efforts to implement the PSC's REV policies, principles and recommendations in the Long Island service territory;
- Monitor management's oversight of PSEG LI's participation in the PSC's REV proceeding and its efforts to implement the PSC's REV policies, principles and recommendations;
- Report annually to the Board of Trustees on how it has met its responsibilities as outlined in this Charter; and
- Report and make recommendations to the Board of Trustees from time to time on the results of its reviews and monitoring of the foregoing and carry out such other responsibilities consistent with its purpose as may be assigned from time to time by the Chair of the Board of Trustees or the Board of Trustees.

² The Oversight and REV Committee will coordinate with or defer to the Finance and Audit Committee on recommendations from the Department of Public Service that also have significant financial implications.

**GOVERNANCE, PLANNING AND
PERSONNEL COMMITTEE CHARTER**

Long Island Power Authority

October 24, 2018

PURPOSE:

The purpose of the Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Trustees (the “Board”) of the Long Island Power Authority (the “Authority”), in part, pursuant to Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law of the State of New York, is to assist the Trustees of the Authority by:

- Keeping the Board informed of current best governance practices;
- Reviewing corporate governance trends for their applicability to the Authority;
- Updating the Authority's corporate governance principles;
- Ensuring that the Board’s policies provide strategic direction for the Authority and that the Board is being effective in the utilization of the Authority’s assets and oversight of the Authority’s activities; and
- Advising those responsible for appointing Trustees on the skills and experiences required of potential Trustees.

Additionally, the Committee shall be responsible to make recommendations to the Board relating to attraction, appointment, evaluation, retention, compensation, and separation from employment of the Authority’s Chief Executive Officer; to oversee the CEO’s administration of the Authority’s compensation and benefit plans and personnel policies and programs including those related to the attraction, retention, continued development, and separation from employment of employees; and to consult with the Chief Executive Officer and advise the Board with respect to the attraction, appointment, retention and separation from employment of the Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel.

MEMBERSHIP:

The Committee shall consist of three or more Trustees, who shall be appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, the Chair of the Board of Trustees, including the member designated as its chair (“Committee Chair”). The members shall serve until their resignation, retirement, or removal by the Chair of the Board of Trustees. The Chair of the Board shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of the Committee.

Each Committee member shall meet the independence requirements set forth in the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005².

MEETINGS:

Meetings of the Committee shall be convened by the Committee Chair and are authorized as often as the Committee Chair deems necessary, but not less than four times a year. A majority of the members of the Committee then sitting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power or function of the Committee. Meeting agendas will be prepared for every meeting and provided to the Committee members at least two (2) days in advance of the scheduled meeting, along with the appropriate materials needed to make informed decisions.

Meetings of the Committee shall be open to the public and governed by the rules regarding public meetings set forth in the applicable provisions of the Public Authorities Law and Article 7 of the Public Officers Law that relate to public notice, public speaking and the conduct of executive session, and minutes will be taken and maintained.

The Committee may request any officer or employee of the Authority, PSEG Long Island or the Authority's outside counsel or other consultants to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee.

RESPONSIBILITIES:

The Board hereby assigns the Committee the responsibility to review, develop, draft, revise or oversee policies and practices for which the Committee has specific expertise or delegated responsibility, as follows:

- Develop and recommend to the Board policies for the sound governance of the Authority including but not limited to the Board's Mission, the purpose and role of the Board, the Board's relationship with the CEO of the Authority and other Board-appointed officers, Codes of Ethics and Conduct, performance standards for the Board and employees of the Authority, and other such policies as it deems necessary or appropriate to address transparency, independence, accountability, fiduciary responsibilities, and management oversight (which responsibility may be delegated by this Committee to other board committees that have greater first-hand knowledge or experience with the issue, at its discretion).

² An "independent" member is defined in the Act as one who: 1. is not, and in the past two years has not been a) employed by the public authority or an affiliate in an executive capacity; b) employed by an entity that has received remuneration valued at more than fifteen thousand dollars for goods and services provided to the public authority or received any other form of financial assistance valued at more than fifteen thousand dollars from the public authority; c) a lobbyist registered under a state or local law and paid by a client to influence the management decisions, contract awards, rate determinations or any other similar actions of the public authority or an affiliate; and 2. is not a relative of an executive officer or employee in an executive position of the public authority or an affiliate.

- Develop and recommend to the Board the number and structure of committees to be created by the Board, including this Committee.
- Develop and provide recommendations to the Board evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and senior management in the Authority's governance process, including coordination and oversight of such performance evaluations.
- Examine potential ethical and conflict of interest issues and situations.
- Develop, review on a regular basis, and update as necessary the Authority's Mission Statement, Policies and Work Plan (collectively, the "Strategic Plan") to ensure that the Authority is establishing and following the appropriate and necessary direction for itself, the CEO and all of LIPA's service providers for the immediate and long-term benefit of the customer-owners and residents of Long Island.
- Develop, review on a regular basis, and update as necessary the Authority's Code of Ethics and Conduct, which shall be at least as stringent as the laws, rules, regulations and policies applicable to state officers and employees.
- Develop and recommend to the Board any required revisions to the Authority's written policies regarding the protection of whistleblowers from retaliation, as included in the Code.
- Develop and recommend to the Board any required updates on the Authority's written policies regarding procurement of goods and services, including policies relating to the disclosure of persons who attempt to influence the Authority's procurement process.
- Develop and recommend to the Board any required updates on the Authority's written policies regarding the disposition of real and personal property.
- Develop and recommend to the Board all updates on the Authority's other written policies that are required by statute or by resolution of the Board which have not been delegated to other Board committees or retained to itself by the Board.
- Develop and recommend to the Board any other policies or documents relating to the governance of the Authority, including rules and procedures for conducting the business of the Board, such as the Authority's by-laws. The Committee will oversee the implementation and effectiveness of the by-laws and other governance documents and recommend modifications as needed.
- Develop a description of the competencies and personal attributes required of Trustees to assist those authorized to appoint members to the Board in identifying qualified individuals.
- Develop and provide recommendations to the Board regarding Trustee education, including new Trustee orientation and regularly scheduled Trustee training.

- Review and report to the Board on the requirement under the LIPA Reform Act to keep the Authority's staffing at only those levels necessary to ensure that the Authority is able to meet its obligations with respect to its bonds and notes and all applicable statutes and contracts and oversee the activities of its service provider.
- Monitor and make recommendations to the Board with respect to the Authority's staffing and employment policies, practices, and programs, including those that seek to attract and retain a qualified workforce, support the continued professional development of the Authority's staff, and ensure employment practices that meet or exceed relevant laws and regulations.
- Recommend for approval by the Trustees the appointment and compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and annually evaluate and make recommendations to the Board regarding the performance of the Chief Executive Officer relative to the mission, values, governance, and operating principles approved by the Board.
- Annually review and, if appropriate, recommend to the Trustees changes in the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer taking into account such factors as: (i) the compensation and benefits of those at utilities of similar size and complexity; (ii) an appropriate balance of compensation practices among public and private organizations; (iii) industry and regional cost-of-living trends; and (iv) individual performance and contribution.
- Recommend for approval, in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel.
- In consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, advise the Board with respect to emergency succession planning for the position of the Chief Executive Officer.
- Review and report to the Board at least annually on the effectiveness of the Board, the Board's governance structure and the Board's policies, and make such recommendations to the Board as will improve the effectiveness of the Board, the utilization of the Authority's assets and the Board's oversight of the Authority's operations. The Committee will similarly assess its own activities and effectiveness as a Committee and report that to the Board annually, including a report on any proposed changes to the charter or the staffing and employment policies of the Board.
- Carry out such other activities consistent with its purpose as may be requested from time to time by the Chair of the Board or the Board of Trustees.

BY-LAWS
of the
LONG ISLAND POWER AUTHORITY

As amended ~~December 20, 2016~~

October 24, 2018

Long Island Power Authority
333 Earle Ovington Blvd., Suite 403
Uniondale, New York 11553

**BY-LAWS
of the
LONG ISLAND POWER AUTHORITY**

ARTICLE I Offices.....	1
Section 1. Principal Office	1
Section 2. Other Offices	1
Section 3. Books and Records.....	1
ARTICLE II Trustees.....	1
Section 1. Number, Term, Appointment and Vacancies	1
Section 2. Powers and Duties.....	1
ARTICLE III Trustees’ Meetings.....	1
Section 1. Place of Meetings.....	1
Section 2. Meetings.....	1
Section 3. Quorum	2
Section 4. Adjournment of Meetings	2
Section 5. Open Meetings	2
Section 6. Consent Agenda	2
ARTICLE IV Officers and Employees	2
Section 1. Chair, Vice Chair and Officers.....	2
Section 2. Election and Appointment of Officers.....	2
Section 3. Term of Office	3
Section 4. Vacancies	3
Section 5. Emergency Succession of the Chief Executive Officer	3
Section 6. Removal	3
Section 7. Powers and Duties.....	3
A. Chair.....	3
B. Vice Chair	4
C. Chief Executive Officer.....	4
D. Chief Financial Officer	4
E. General Counsel.....	4
F. Secretary	5
G. Controller	5
Section 8. Personnel	5
Section 9. Outside Experts	5
ARTICLE V Committees.....	6
Section 1. Finance and Audit Committee.....	6
Section 2. Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee	6
Section 3. Personnel and Compensation Committee.....	6
Section 3 . Oversight and Reforming the Energy Vision Committee	7
Section 4 . Other Committees	7
Section 5 . Ex-Officio Committee Member.....	7

ARTICLE VI Corporate Seal	7
Section 1. Seal.....	7
ARTICLE VII Fiscal Management	7
Section 1. Fiscal Year	7
Section 2. Budgets.....	8
Section 3. Expenditure and Contract Authorization Procedures	8
ARTICLE VIII Execution of Instruments.....	8
Section 1. Execution of Instruments.....	8
ARTICLE IX Amendment	8
Section 1. Amendment.....	8
ARTICLE X Indemnification of Trustees, Officers and Employees.....	8
Section 1. Purpose and Definitions	8
Section 2. General Scope of Indemnification	9
Section 3. Representation of Persons Indemnified	10
Section 4. Advances of Expenses.....	10
Section 5. Indemnification on Final Disposition	10
Section 6. Insurance	11
Section 7. Applicability of this Article.....	11
ARTICLE XI Miscellaneous.....	12
Section 1. Employment Contracts	12
Section 2. Annual Reports.....	12
Section 3. Severability	12
Section 4. Governing Law	12

ARTICLE I

Offices

Section 1. **Principal Office.** The principal office of the Long Island Power Authority (hereinafter referred to as the “Authority”) shall be its Uniondale, Long Island, New York Office.

Section 2. **Other Offices.** The Authority may also have offices at such other places as the Trustees may from time to time determine or the business of the Authority may require.

Section 3. **Books and Records.** Except as otherwise determined by the Trustees, or as the business of the Authority may require, all books and records of the Authority shall be kept at its principal office.

ARTICLE II

Trustees

Section 1. **Number, Term, Appointment and Vacancies.** The number and term of Trustees and the appointment and process of filling vacancies shall be governed by Title I-A of Article 5 of the Public Authorities Law, Chapter 517 of the Laws of New York, 1986 (the “LIPA Act”), as amended by Chapter 173 of the Laws of New York, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as the “LIPA Reform Act”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Trustee who shall have failed to attend six consecutive meetings of the Trustees or at least fifty percent of the meetings of the Trustees during a consecutive 12-month period shall thereupon and without further action be deemed to have resigned as a Trustee of the Authority.

Section 2. **Powers and Duties.** The powers and duties of the Trustees shall be governed by the LIPA Act, the LIPA Reform Act and any other applicable provisions of the Public Authorities Law, including Title 2 of Article 9, Chapter 766 of the Laws of New York, 2005, as amended.

ARTICLE III

Trustees’ Meetings

Section 1. **Place of Meetings.** Meetings of the Trustees shall be held at the principal office of the Authority or at such other place as the Chair may from time to time designate.

Section 2. **Meetings.** Meetings of the Trustees may be called by the Chair or upon the request of any six (6) Trustees. The Secretary shall give notice of the time, place and purpose or purposes of each meeting by mail at least three (3) days before the meeting or in person or by telephone, email or facsimile at least two (2) days before the meeting to each Trustee. The notice required to be given under this section may be waived by the Trustee to whom such notice is

required to be given. Attendance of a Trustee of the Authority at a meeting without objection shall constitute waiver of notice of the meeting.

Section 3. **Quorum.** As set forth in Section 2826 of the Public Authorities Law, five (5) Trustees of the Authority shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power of the Authority and shall only have the power to act by a vote of five (5) Trustees.

Section 4. **Adjournment of Meetings.** A majority of Trustees, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any meeting to another time and place. Notice of such adjourned time and place shall be given to each Trustee not present at such meeting or, if no announcement of such adjourned time and place was made at such meeting, at least three (3) days' notice of the newly scheduled meeting must be given to all Trustees. No such adjournment shall be used to defeat a notice provision.

Section 5. **Open Meetings.** All meetings of the Trustees shall be conducted in compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Law, set forth in Article 7 of the Public Officers Law.

Section 6. **Consent Agenda.** To make more efficient use of meeting time, the Chair, or the Trustee performing the duties of the Chair, is authorized to place items on a consent agenda as part of the regular meeting agenda. The consent agenda will condense into either a single motion or several categorical motions routine, ministerial, non-controversial, or self-explanatory items including, for example, approval of the minutes from previous Board meetings or award of non-material contracts. Items on a consent agenda will not be discussed prior to action. However, if any Trustee believes that any item placed on the consent agenda by the Chair requires discussion, that Trustee may remove the item from the consent agenda by requesting same. The exempted item then moves to the regular agenda, and the Trustees may take action as they deem appropriate.

ARTICLE IV

Officers and Employees

Section 1. **Chair, Vice Chair and Officers.** The Chair shall be chosen by the Governor of New York State from among the Trustees in accordance with the LIPA Reform Act. A Vice Chair may be elected by the Trustees. The Authority shall have the following officers: a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, a General Counsel, a Secretary and a Controller, all of whom shall be employees of the Authority. The Authority may also have such other officers (including assistant and acting officers) and agents as the Chief Executive Officer may deem necessary or desirable, all of whom shall be employees of the Authority. Neither the Chair nor any Vice Chair shall simultaneously hold the position of any officer in the Authority.

Section 2. **Election and Appointment of Officers.** The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and General Counsel of the Authority shall be elected by the Trustees. The Chief Executive Officer shall appoint the Secretary and Controller of the Authority and may appoint such other officers as he or she may from time to time deem necessary or desirable.

Section 3. **Term of Office.** Except as the Trustees may otherwise specify, officers of the Authority shall hold their respective offices until their respective successors shall have been duly elected or appointed, as the case may be, or until their earlier resignation, removal or death.

Section 4. **Vacancies.** A vacancy occurring for any reason in any office of the Authority elected by the Trustees may be filled at any time by the Trustees. A vacancy for any reason in any office appointed by the Chief Executive Officer may be filled at any time by the Chief Executive Officer for such term as he or she shall determine or until such officer's earlier resignation, removal or death. In the event of the absence, disability, incapacity or resignation of the Chief Financial Officer or General Counsel, the Chief Executive Officer may appoint a member of the Authority's staff to perform such duties on an interim basis until the termination of such absence, disability or incapacity or until a successor is elected by the Trustees.

Section 5. **Emergency Succession of the Chief Executive Officer.** In the event of the absence, disability, incapacity or resignation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer until the termination of such absence, disability or incapacity or until a successor Chief Executive Officer is elected by the Trustees. In the event the Chief Financial Officer is unable to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer due to the Chief Financial Officer's absence, disability, incapacity or resignation, or in the event the Chief Financial Officer is unwilling to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, the General Counsel shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer until the termination of such absence, disability or incapacity or until a successor Chief Executive Officer is elected by the Trustees. In the event the General Counsel is unable to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer due to the General Counsel's absence, disability, incapacity or resignation, or in the event the General Counsel is unwilling to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, then the Trustees shall designate another officer to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer until a successor Chief Executive Officer is elected by the Trustees.

Section 6. **Removal.** Any officer elected by the Trustees shall be subject to removal at any time by the Trustees with or without cause. Any officer appointed by the Chief Executive Officer shall be subject to removal at any time by the Chief Executive Officer with or without cause.

Section 7. **Powers and Duties.** The Chair, Vice Chair, and each officer elected by the Trustees shall have such authority and perform such duties, in addition to those specified in these By-Laws, as may be prescribed by the Trustees from time to time. The Trustees may from time to time authorize the Chair, Vice Chair, or any officer to appoint and remove any other officer or agent and to prescribe such person's authorities and duties. Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws or by law, any person may hold no more than two offices at one time.

A. **Chair.** The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Trustees and shall exercise such duties and powers as hereinafter described and as customarily pertain to the Office of Chair, including responsibility for the leadership and good governance of the Authority's Board. Such duties include appointing the membership of Board committees, preparing agendas for Board meetings that facilitate decision making, and managing the governance and policy setting processes of the Board, with a focus on defining the mission and values of the Authority through Board-approved policies. The Chair may also have such other duties and responsibilities as the Trustees may from time to time assign. The Chair may delegate to the Vice Chair, the Chief

Executive Officer, or the Chief Financial Officer, or any other officer or officers such of the Chair's powers and functions as he or she may deem appropriate from time to time to the extent consistent with applicable law. Such delegation shall continue until affirmatively revoked by the then-current Chair or the Trustees.

B. **Vice Chair.** The Vice Chair shall possess such powers and shall perform such duties as may be assigned to him from time to time by the Trustees. The Vice Chair is empowered to be Acting Chair in the absence, disability, incapacity or vacancy in the office of the Chair and shall assume the powers and perform all duties of the Chair if the Chair is unable or unavailable to perform such duties for any reason.

C. **Chief Executive Officer.** The Chief Executive Officer of the Authority, subject to such supervision as the Trustees may exercise, shall have such duties and powers as hereinafter described and as customarily pertain to the office of the Chief Executive Officer, including serving as the primary liaison and interface on behalf of the Authority with the Trustees. Except as may be prescribed by the Trustees, the Chief Executive Officer shall have general supervision and control over the property, business and affairs of the Authority and over its several officers, employees and agents, including its service providers and other contractors, and is responsible for advancing the mission and modeling the values of the Authority as defined by the Board, directing the implementation of the policies and decisions of the Board, as well as the Authority's internal operations. The Chief Executive Officer may sign, execute and deliver in the name of the Authority powers of attorney, contracts, agreements, leases, notes, checks, drafts, bonds, obligations and such documents other than those required by these By-Laws, law or resolution to be executed by the Chair and/or the Secretary. Except as may be otherwise provided in these By-Laws, the Chief Executive Officer may delegate powers and duties to those officers as the Chief Executive Officer shall determine appropriate consistent with applicable law. Such delegation shall continue until affirmatively revoked by the then-current Chief Executive Officer or the Trustees.

D. **Chief Financial Officer.** The Chief Financial Officer shall have general custody of all funds and securities of the Authority and have general supervision of the collection and disbursement of Authority funds and shall endorse on behalf of the Authority for collection checks, notes and other obligations, and shall deposit the same to the credit of the Authority in such bank or banks or depositories as the Chief Executive Officer may designate, and shall perform such other duties as customarily pertain to such office as may be assigned from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer, subject, however, at all times to the supervision and control of the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, and subject further to any limitations which the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, may from time to time prescribe.

E. **General Counsel.** The General Counsel shall be the chief legal officer of the Authority and in that capacity shall advise and represent the Authority and its Trustees in their capacity as such generally in all legal matters and proceedings, including legislative proceedings, and possess such powers and shall have general supervision over the property, business and affairs of the legal office of the General Counsel and shall perform such other duties as customarily pertain to such office or as may be from time to time assigned by the Chief Executive Officer or the Trustees, subject, however, at all times to the supervision and control of the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, and the Trustees, and subject further to any limitations which the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the

duties of Chief Executive Officer, may from time to time prescribe.

F. **Secretary.** The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Trustees and act as Secretary thereof and record all votes and shall keep a record of the proceedings of the Trustees in a Minute Book to be kept for that purpose. The Secretary shall cause notice to be given of all meetings of the Trustees and shall be custodian of the records of the actions of the Trustees and shall keep in safe custody the seal of the Authority and shall have the authority to affix such seal to all documents and papers authorized to be executed by the Trustees or officers of the Authority requiring such seal to be affixed. The Secretary shall attest to the signatures of the Trustees and officers of the Authority and shall have the authority to cause copies to be made of all minutes, resolutions, records and documents of the Authority and to deliver certificates under seal to the effect that such copies are true and accurate and that all persons dealing with the Authority may rely on same. The Secretary shall possess such powers and perform such other duties as customarily pertain to the office or may be from time to time assigned by the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, subject, however, at all times to the supervision, control of and any limitations prescribed by the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate.

G. **Controller.** The Controller shall be the principal accounting officer of the Authority, unless another individual shall be so designated by the Trustees. The Controller shall be responsible for maintaining the accounting records of the Authority and for preparing necessary financial reports and statements, and the Controller shall properly account for all moneys and obligations due the Authority and all properties, assets, and liabilities of the Authority. The Controller shall render to the Chief Executive Officer, or their designee, such periodic reports covering the result of operations of the Authority as may be required by Chief Executive Officer, or their designee. The Controller shall have such other duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Trustees or the Chief Executive Officer or their designee.

Section 8. **Personnel.** Subject to the restrictions of the LIPA Reform Act and any policies established by the Trustees, the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time appoint employees (other than those officers elected by the Trustees) as he or she may deem necessary to exercise the powers, duties and functions of the Authority as prescribed by law. The selection, qualification, and compensation of such employees shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the laws of the State of New York and any compensation policies established by the Trustees. The Chief Executive Officer shall report annually to the Trustees on the staffing of the Authority but retains sole authority to make all decisions related to employees that are not appointed by the Trustees.

Section 9. **Outside Experts.** Financial advisors, accountants, auditors, engineers, attorneys and other consultants may be retained on a contract basis or otherwise for rendering professional or technical services or advice by the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee consistent with the terms of the Authority's procurement guidelines. Such outside experts shall perform their designated duties under the direct supervision of the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee.

ARTICLE V

Committees

Section 1. **Finance and Audit Committee.** The Finance and Audit Committee shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law. To the extent practicable, its members shall be familiar with corporate financial and accounting practices and possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the Finance and Audit Committee.

The Finance and Audit Committee shall review and make recommendations to the Trustees as to the engagement of and compensation to be paid to the Authority’s independent certified accountants, who shall be selected in accordance with the LIPA Reform Act (or other applicable State law), and the Authority’s general accounting and internal control systems and policies and practices. The Finance and Audit Committee will have responsibility to directly oversee the performance of the audits performed by the Authority’s independent accountants and to review the results of the annual internal control review and changes in accounting policies that may be required. The Finance and Audit Committee will present these results and changes with their recommendation to the Trustees. Any audit of the Authority by the State or any other agency which is conducted and results in the issuance of interim and/or formal reports shall also be reported to the Finance and Audit Committee for conveyance to the Trustees. The Finance and Audit Committee shall also review and make recommendations concerning the Authority’s budgets, the management and investment of all funds of the Authority, the Authority’s financial and investment policies, and proposals for the issuance of debt by the Authority.

Section 2. **Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee.** The Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee (the “Governance Committee”) shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law and possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the Governance Committee. The Governance Committee shall keep the Trustees informed of current governance best practices, review corporate governance trends, update the Authority’s corporate governance policies, advise the Governor, Majority Leader of the Senate and Speaker of the Assembly on the skills and experience required of potential Trustees, examine ethical and conflict of interest issues, perform board self-evaluations, and recommend amendments to these By-laws.

~~Section 3. **Personnel and Compensation Committee.** The Personnel and Compensation Committee shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law. The Personnel and Compensation Committee Additionally, the Governance Committee shall review and make recommendations to the Board of Trustees with respect to monitoring the Authority's staffing needs and developing and monitoring the implementation of policies and procedures related to employment at the Authority, including those designed to attract and retain valuable employees. The Personnel and Compensation Governance Committee shall recommend for approval by the Trustees the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and General Counsel.~~

Section 43. **Oversight and Reforming the Energy Vision (“REV”) Committee.** The Oversight ~~and~~ REV Committee (the “Oversight Committee”) shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law. The Oversight Committee shall be responsible for monitoring the service provider’s operational and financial performance, including oversight of the same provided by the staff of the Authority, and the implementation of recommendations made pursuant to management and operations audits. The Oversight Committee shall review the Authority’s operational and financial oversight process and report to the Trustees and others related to its findings. Additionally, the Oversight Committee shall remain knowledgeable and up-to-date and report to the Board on the principles, policies and recommendations of the New York Public Service Commission’s (“PSC”) REV proceeding as a necessary part of carrying out the Authority’s obligations and oversight of its service provider.

Section 54. **Other Committees.** The Chair or the Trustees may appoint other committees which shall have and may exercise such powers as shall be authorized by the Chair or Trustees. For those Committees appointed by the Chair, notice of the purpose and scope of such committees will be provided to the Trustees.

Section 65. **Ex-Officio Committee Member.** For any committee appointed by the Chair or Trustees, the Chair shall be an ex-officio member who has the right, but not the obligation, to participate in the proceedings of the committees and vote on any action to be taken. Such ex-officio membership shall not, however, be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum of the committee exists, but the Chair’s vote shall be counted in determining whether a proposed committee action has been approved or disapproved by the requisite vote.

ARTICLE VI

Corporate Seal

Section 1. **Seal.** The seal of the Authority shall be a design symbolizing its activities and shall be surrounded by the words “Long Island Power Authority” as shown by the following impression of such seal:



ARTICLE VII

Fiscal Management

Section 1. **Fiscal Year.** The Trustees shall have the power to fix, and may from time to time change by resolution, the fiscal year of the Authority. Unless otherwise fixed by the Trustees, the calendar year shall be the fiscal year.

Section 2. **Budgets.** The Trustees shall adopt such operations and maintenance budgets and capital budgets as necessary to support the Authority's and any subsidiaries' operations and departments, in accordance with the LIPA Reform Act.

Section 3. **Expenditure and Contract Authorization Procedures.** The Trustees shall adopt expenditure and contract authorization procedures which shall govern the budget, contract executions and all approved authorizations.

ARTICLE VIII

Execution of Instruments

Section 1. **Execution of Instruments.** The Chief Executive Officer, except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, may authorize any officer, employee or agent (including himself) to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Authority, and such power to execute and deliver may be general or specific; unless so authorized and except as otherwise provided herein, no officer, employee or agent shall have any power or authority to bind the Authority by any contract or engagement or pledge its credit or to render it liable pecuniarily for any purpose or in any amount.

ARTICLE IX

Amendment

Section 1. **Amendment.** The Trustees shall have the power to amend, alter or repeal any provision or provisions of these By-Laws at any meeting; provided that written notice of the intention to consider a resolution amending the By-Laws shall have been given to all Trustees at least three (3) days prior to such meeting.

ARTICLE X

Indemnification of Trustees, Officers and Employees

Section 1. **Purpose and Definitions.** The purpose of this Article is to provide for indemnification of Trustees, officers and employees of the Authority so as to encourage the service of the most competent and civic-minded persons to effectuate the purposes of the Act. In this Article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below:

(1) "action or proceeding" shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, the investigation, preparation, defense, settlement and appeal of any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative,

arbitrative or investigative;

(2) “party to an action or proceeding” means a person made, or threatened to be made, a defendant or respondent or otherwise a party in an action or proceeding, and includes a person called upon, voluntarily or by subpoena, to give testimony, produce documents or respond to interrogatories in connection with any action or proceeding;

(3) “Trustee” means each Trustee of the Authority appointed pursuant to the LIPA Reform Act, including the Trustee designated as Chair;

(4) “officer” means each officer of the Authority hired pursuant to the LIPA Act and these By-Laws;

(5) “employee” means each employee of the Authority who is not also an officer;

(6) “Trustee,” “officer” and “employee” of the Authority each includes persons who formerly served in such capacity and the estates of deceased persons who had served in such capacity, and the legal or personal representative of such persons;

(7) “Authority” shall include any wholly owned subsidiary created or acquired in accordance with section 1020-i of the LIPA Act; and

(8) “applicable standard of conduct” means that the Trustee, officer or employee seeking to be indemnified hereunder acted (or omitted to take action) in good faith for a purpose which he or she reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the authority and, in criminal actions or proceedings, had reasonable cause to believe his or her action or inaction was lawful; and in no case shall any acts or omissions by the Trustee, officer or employee which may be determined to constitute negligence, recklessness, or gross negligence be deemed violative of the applicable standard of conduct. Furthermore, the termination of any action or proceeding by judgment, settlement, conviction or upon plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not in itself create a presumption that any such Trustee, officer or employee did not act in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct.

Section 2. General Scope of Indemnification. The Authority hereby confers the benefits of Section 18 of the New York Public Officers Law (“POL § 18”) on the Authority’s Trustees, officers and employees and agrees to be held liable for the costs thereof. Further, the Authority shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, but not limited to, POL § 18, indemnify and hold harmless any person who becomes a party to an action or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a Trustee, officer or employee of the Authority against judgments, penalties, amounts paid in settlement and reasonable expenses, including attorney’s fees actually and necessarily incurred as a result thereof, unless the conduct of such Trustee, officer or employee in the matters at issue in such action or proceeding is found by a final judgment of a court of applicable jurisdiction, in the manner prescribed in the Article, not to have met the applicable standard of conduct.

Neither the failure of the Authority (including its Trustees or counsel) to have made a determination that the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses is entitled to indemnification or advancement of expenses in the circumstances nor an actual determination by the Authority (including its Trustees or independent legal counsel) that the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses is not so entitled shall be a defense to an action or

create a presumption that the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses is not so entitled.

Section 3. Representation of Persons Indemnified. Where not otherwise inconsistent with law, the Authority may, either by its own in-house counsel or by outside counsel of its choice, assume the representation of any person entitled to indemnification by the Authority who becomes a party to an action or proceeding, except in situations in which the Authority's Chief Executive Officer or counsel determines that it is a conflict or otherwise inappropriate or inadvisable for such person to be represented by counsel chosen by the Authority. In the event that the Authority does not assume such representation, such person shall have the right to engage private counsel of his or her choice and the Authority shall have the obligation of indemnification for the reasonable fees and expenses of such private counsel as provided in this Article; provided however, that the Authority as a condition to such indemnification for the cost of private counsel may, and where the Attorney General has so required as a condition to indemnification by the State of New York shall, require appropriate groups of persons to be represented by the same counsel except when there is a conflict.

Section 4. Advances of Expenses

(a) A Trustee, officer or employee who becomes a party to an action or proceeding may request that the Authority advance expenses pending the final disposition of such action or proceeding. Upon such request, the Authority shall promptly pay, from time to time in advance of the final disposition of the action or proceeding, reasonable expenses as described in Section 2 of this Article X incurred by such Trustee, officer or employee in connection with such action or proceeding.

(b) The Authority shall require each person receiving amounts under paragraph (a) of this Section 4 to agree in writing that the same shall be repaid if the person receiving such advance is ultimately found not to be entitled to indemnification, or to the extent the expenses so advanced by the Authority exceed the indemnification to which he or she is ultimately found to be entitled.

Section 5. Indemnification on Final Disposition

(a) A person who has been wholly successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of an action or proceeding shall be deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct and shall be entitled to indemnification against reasonable expenses as described in Section 2, and the Authority shall make such indemnification without necessity for any authorization, findings or other action by the Trustees prior to such indemnification.

(b) A Trustee, officer or employee who has not been wholly successful in the defense of an action or proceeding, or who was a party to an action or proceeding without being a defendant or respondent therein, may request indemnification from the Authority. Upon such request: (i) if there is a quorum of Trustees who are not parties to such action or proceeding, the Board shall make a finding as to whether the requesting Trustee, officer or employee has met the applicable standard of conduct; or (ii) if such a quorum of Trustees is not obtainable with due diligence, the Board shall obtain an opinion in writing of outside legal counsel as to whether

such standard of conduct has been met by the requesting Trustee, officer or employee. If a quorum of Trustees makes such finding or outside legal counsel gives such opinion, the Board shall authorize, and the Authority shall make, indemnification as provided in Section 2, upon a determination by the Trustees (or a person or body designated by the Trustees) that expenses sought to be indemnified were reasonable and actually and necessarily incurred as a result of the action or proceeding, and that any amounts paid in settlement (unless approved by the Trustees prior to such settlement) were reasonable in the circumstances.

Section 6. **Insurance.** The Authority may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any Trustee, officer or employee of the Authority against any expense, liability or loss sought to be indemnified, whether or not the Authority would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under this Article.

Section 7. **Applicability of this Article**

(a) This Article is to be construed liberally in favor of each Trustee, officer or employee to the fullest extent permitted by law, and any ambiguity, uncertainty or reasonable doubt as to facts, interpretation or legal conclusions shall be resolved in favor of such Trustee, officer or employee.

(b) The provisions of this Article shall not impair, limit or modify the rights and obligations of any insurer under any policy of insurance.

(c) The provisions of this Article shall be in addition to and shall not supplant any indemnification by the State heretofore or hereafter conferred upon any Trustee, officer or employee by section 1020-bb of the LIPA Act, by applicable provisions of the Public Officers Law, or otherwise. The indemnification hereby granted by the Authority shall be in addition to and not in restriction or limitation of any other privilege or power which the Authority may lawfully exercise with respect to the indemnification or reimbursement of Trustees, officers or employees.

(d) Unless and until this Article shall be amended, supplemented or repealed in accordance with Article IX, including, without limitation, paragraph (e) below, the provisions of this Article shall constitute a contract between the Authority and each Trustee, officer or employee for indemnification in accordance with the provisions of this Article, which contract shall survive the termination of the term of service of such Trustee, officer or employee. In the event that any Trustee, officer or employee shall be aggrieved by a determination of the Authority or the Trustees or outside counsel made under this Article, or by a failure of the Authority or Trustees to act as provided herein, he or she shall be entitled to seek appropriate relief against the Authority in any court of competent jurisdiction within the State of New York in accordance with the standards for indemnification set forth herein.

(e) This Article shall be applicable to any claim for indemnification made after its adoption as a By-Law of the Authority, whether the action or proceeding to which such claim relates commenced, or the matters at issue therein occurred, before or after the adoption of this Article. It is contemplated that no subsequent amendment, supplement or repeal of this Article which deprives a Trustee, officer or employee of any substantial right or benefit conferred herein

will be made applicable with respect to any claim for indemnification arising out of conduct of such Trustee, officer or employee occurring or alleged to have occurred after the adoption of this Article and prior to such amendment, supplement or repeal.

(f) The provisions of this Article are severable, and if any section, provision, or clause of this Article or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is held unconstitutional or invalid in whole or in part by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding of unconstitutionality or invalidity shall in no way affect or impair any other section, provision or clause of this Article or the application of any such provision to such person or circumstances or to any other person or circumstance; and the Authority shall nevertheless indemnify each Trustee, officer or employee to the fullest extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated, or by any other applicable law.

ARTICLE XI

Miscellaneous

Section 1. **Employment Contracts.** The Authority may enter into employment contracts with one or more officers of the Authority.

Section 2. **Annual Reports.** The Authority shall submit and make available an annual report, as prescribed by the Public Authorities Law, within ninety days after the close of the fiscal year. The annual report shall be certified in writing by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with Section 2800 of the Public Authorities Law.

Section 3. **Severability.** In case any one or more of the provisions of these By-Laws shall for any reason be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of these By-Laws and the By-Laws shall be construed as if such illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained herein.

Section 4. **Governing Law.** These By-Laws shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of New York.

BY-LAWS
of the
LONG ISLAND POWER AUTHORITY

As amended October 24, 2018

Long Island Power Authority
333 Earle Ovington Blvd., Suite 403
Uniondale, New York 11553

**BY-LAWS
of the
LONG ISLAND POWER AUTHORITY**

ARTICLE I Offices..... 1
 Section 1. Principal Office 1
 Section 2. Other Offices 1
 Section 3. Books and Records..... 1

ARTICLE II Trustees..... 1
 Section 1. Number, Term, Appointment and Vacancies 1
 Section 2. Powers and Duties..... 1

ARTICLE III Trustees’ Meetings..... 1
 Section 1. Place of Meetings..... 1
 Section 2. Meetings..... 1
 Section 3. Quorum 2
 Section 4. Adjournment of Meetings 2
 Section 5. Open Meetings 2
 Section 6. Consent Agenda 2

ARTICLE IV Officers and Employees 2
 Section 1. Chair, Vice Chair and Officers..... 2
 Section 2. Election and Appointment of Officers..... 2
 Section 3. Term of Office 3
 Section 4. Vacancies 3
 Section 5. Emergency Succession of the Chief Executive Officer 3
 Section 6. Removal 3
 Section 7. Powers and Duties..... 3
 A. Chair..... 3
 B. Vice Chair 4
 C. Chief Executive Officer 4
 D. Chief Financial Officer 4
 E. General Counsel..... 4
 F. Secretary 5
 G. Controller 5
 Section 8. Personnel 5
 Section 9. Outside Experts 5

ARTICLE V Committees..... 6
 Section 1. Finance and Audit Committee..... 6
 Section 2. Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee 6
 Section 3. Oversight and Reforming the Energy Vision Committee 7
 Section 4. Other Committees 7
 Section 5. Ex-Officio Committee Member..... 7

ARTICLE VI Corporate Seal	7
Section 1. Seal.....	7
ARTICLE VII Fiscal Management	7
Section 1. Fiscal Year	7
Section 2. Budgets.....	8
Section 3. Expenditure and Contract Authorization Procedures	8
ARTICLE VIII Execution of Instruments.....	8
Section 1. Execution of Instruments.....	8
ARTICLE IX Amendment	8
Section 1. Amendment.....	8
ARTICLE X Indemnification of Trustees, Officers and Employees.....	8
Section 1. Purpose and Definitions	8
Section 2. General Scope of Indemnification	9
Section 3. Representation of Persons Indemnified	10
Section 4. Advances of Expenses.....	10
Section 5. Indemnification on Final Disposition	10
Section 6. Insurance	11
Section 7. Applicability of this Article.....	11
ARTICLE XI Miscellaneous.....	12
Section 1. Employment Contracts	12
Section 2. Annual Reports.....	12
Section 3. Severability	12
Section 4. Governing Law	12

ARTICLE I

Offices

Section 1. **Principal Office.** The principal office of the Long Island Power Authority (hereinafter referred to as the “Authority”) shall be its Uniondale, Long Island, New York Office.

Section 2. **Other Offices.** The Authority may also have offices at such other places as the Trustees may from time to time determine or the business of the Authority may require.

Section 3. **Books and Records.** Except as otherwise determined by the Trustees, or as the business of the Authority may require, all books and records of the Authority shall be kept at its principal office.

ARTICLE II

Trustees

Section 1. **Number, Term, Appointment and Vacancies.** The number and term of Trustees and the appointment and process of filling vacancies shall be governed by Title I-A of Article 5 of the Public Authorities Law, Chapter 517 of the Laws of New York, 1986 (the “LIPA Act”), as amended by Chapter 173 of the Laws of New York, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as the “LIPA Reform Act”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Trustee who shall have failed to attend six consecutive meetings of the Trustees or at least fifty percent of the meetings of the Trustees during a consecutive 12-month period shall thereupon and without further action be deemed to have resigned as a Trustee of the Authority.

Section 2. **Powers and Duties.** The powers and duties of the Trustees shall be governed by the LIPA Act, the LIPA Reform Act and any other applicable provisions of the Public Authorities Law, including Title 2 of Article 9, Chapter 766 of the Laws of New York, 2005, as amended.

ARTICLE III

Trustees’ Meetings

Section 1. **Place of Meetings.** Meetings of the Trustees shall be held at the principal office of the Authority or at such other place as the Chair may from time to time designate.

Section 2. **Meetings.** Meetings of the Trustees may be called by the Chair or upon the request of any six (6) Trustees. The Secretary shall give notice of the time, place and purpose or purposes of each meeting by mail at least three (3) days before the meeting or in person or by telephone, email or facsimile at least two (2) days before the meeting to each Trustee. The notice required to be given under this section may be waived by the Trustee to whom such notice is

required to be given. Attendance of a Trustee of the Authority at a meeting without objection shall constitute waiver of notice of the meeting.

Section 3. **Quorum.** As set forth in Section 2826 of the Public Authorities Law, five (5) Trustees of the Authority shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power of the Authority and shall only have the power to act by a vote of five (5) Trustees.

Section 4. **Adjournment of Meetings.** A majority of Trustees, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any meeting to another time and place. Notice of such adjourned time and place shall be given to each Trustee not present at such meeting or, if no announcement of such adjourned time and place was made at such meeting, at least three (3) days' notice of the newly scheduled meeting must be given to all Trustees. No such adjournment shall be used to defeat a notice provision.

Section 5. **Open Meetings.** All meetings of the Trustees shall be conducted in compliance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Law, set forth in Article 7 of the Public Officers Law.

Section 6. **Consent Agenda.** To make more efficient use of meeting time, the Chair, or the Trustee performing the duties of the Chair, is authorized to place items on a consent agenda as part of the regular meeting agenda. The consent agenda will condense into either a single motion or several categorical motions routine, ministerial, non-controversial, or self-explanatory items including, for example, approval of the minutes from previous Board meetings or award of non-material contracts. Items on a consent agenda will not be discussed prior to action. However, if any Trustee believes that any item placed on the consent agenda by the Chair requires discussion, that Trustee may remove the item from the consent agenda by requesting same. The exempted item then moves to the regular agenda, and the Trustees may take action as they deem appropriate.

ARTICLE IV

Officers and Employees

Section 1. **Chair, Vice Chair and Officers.** The Chair shall be chosen by the Governor of New York State from among the Trustees in accordance with the LIPA Reform Act. A Vice Chair may be elected by the Trustees. The Authority shall have the following officers: a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, a General Counsel, a Secretary and a Controller, all of whom shall be employees of the Authority. The Authority may also have such other officers (including assistant and acting officers) and agents as the Chief Executive Officer may deem necessary or desirable, all of whom shall be employees of the Authority. Neither the Chair nor any Vice Chair shall simultaneously hold the position of any officer in the Authority.

Section 2. **Election and Appointment of Officers.** The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and General Counsel of the Authority shall be elected by the Trustees. The Chief Executive Officer shall appoint the Secretary and Controller of the Authority and may appoint such other officers as he or she may from time to time deem necessary or desirable.

Section 3. **Term of Office.** Except as the Trustees may otherwise specify, officers of the Authority shall hold their respective offices until their respective successors shall have been duly elected or appointed, as the case may be, or until their earlier resignation, removal or death.

Section 4. **Vacancies.** A vacancy occurring for any reason in any office of the Authority elected by the Trustees may be filled at any time by the Trustees. A vacancy for any reason in any office appointed by the Chief Executive Officer may be filled at any time by the Chief Executive Officer for such term as he or she shall determine or until such officer's earlier resignation, removal or death. In the event of the absence, disability, incapacity or resignation of the Chief Financial Officer or General Counsel, the Chief Executive Officer may appoint a member of the Authority's staff to perform such duties on an interim basis until the termination of such absence, disability or incapacity or until a successor is elected by the Trustees.

Section 5. **Emergency Succession of the Chief Executive Officer.** In the event of the absence, disability, incapacity or resignation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer until the termination of such absence, disability or incapacity or until a successor Chief Executive Officer is elected by the Trustees. In the event the Chief Financial Officer is unable to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer due to the Chief Financial Officer's absence, disability, incapacity or resignation, or in the event the Chief Financial Officer is unwilling to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, the General Counsel shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer until the termination of such absence, disability or incapacity or until a successor Chief Executive Officer is elected by the Trustees. In the event the General Counsel is unable to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer due to the General Counsel's absence, disability, incapacity or resignation, or in the event the General Counsel is unwilling to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, then the Trustees shall designate another officer to perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer until a successor Chief Executive Officer is elected by the Trustees.

Section 6. **Removal.** Any officer elected by the Trustees shall be subject to removal at any time by the Trustees with or without cause. Any officer appointed by the Chief Executive Officer shall be subject to removal at any time by the Chief Executive Officer with or without cause.

Section 7. **Powers and Duties.** The Chair, Vice Chair, and each officer elected by the Trustees shall have such authority and perform such duties, in addition to those specified in these By-Laws, as may be prescribed by the Trustees from time to time. The Trustees may from time to time authorize the Chair, Vice Chair, or any officer to appoint and remove any other officer or agent and to prescribe such person's authorities and duties. Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws or by law, any person may hold no more than two offices at one time.

A. **Chair.** The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Trustees and shall exercise such duties and powers as hereinafter described and as customarily pertain to the Office of Chair, including responsibility for the leadership and good governance of the Authority's Board. Such duties include appointing the membership of Board committees, preparing agendas for Board meetings that facilitate decision making, and managing the governance and policy setting processes of the Board, with a focus on defining the mission and values of the Authority through Board-approved policies. The Chair may also have such other duties and responsibilities as the Trustees may from time to time assign. The Chair may delegate to the Vice Chair, the Chief

Executive Officer, or the Chief Financial Officer, or any other officer or officers such of the Chair's powers and functions as he or she may deem appropriate from time to time to the extent consistent with applicable law. Such delegation shall continue until affirmatively revoked by the then-current Chair or the Trustees.

B. **Vice Chair.** The Vice Chair shall possess such powers and shall perform such duties as may be assigned to him from time to time by the Trustees. The Vice Chair is empowered to be Acting Chair in the absence, disability, incapacity or vacancy in the office of the Chair and shall assume the powers and perform all duties of the Chair if the Chair is unable or unavailable to perform such duties for any reason.

C. **Chief Executive Officer.** The Chief Executive Officer of the Authority, subject to such supervision as the Trustees may exercise, shall have such duties and powers as hereinafter described and as customarily pertain to the office of the Chief Executive Officer, including serving as the primary liaison and interface on behalf of the Authority with the Trustees. Except as may be prescribed by the Trustees, the Chief Executive Officer shall have general supervision and control over the property, business and affairs of the Authority and over its several officers, employees and agents, including its service providers and other contractors, and is responsible for advancing the mission and modeling the values of the Authority as defined by the Board, directing the implementation of the policies and decisions of the Board, as well as the Authority's internal operations. The Chief Executive Officer may sign, execute and deliver in the name of the Authority powers of attorney, contracts, agreements, leases, notes, checks, drafts, bonds, obligations and such documents other than those required by these By-Laws, law or resolution to be executed by the Chair and/or the Secretary. Except as may be otherwise provided in these By-Laws, the Chief Executive Officer may delegate powers and duties to those officers as the Chief Executive Officer shall determine appropriate consistent with applicable law. Such delegation shall continue until affirmatively revoked by the then-current Chief Executive Officer or the Trustees.

D. **Chief Financial Officer.** The Chief Financial Officer shall have general custody of all funds and securities of the Authority and have general supervision of the collection and disbursement of Authority funds and shall endorse on behalf of the Authority for collection checks, notes and other obligations, and shall deposit the same to the credit of the Authority in such bank or banks or depositories as the Chief Executive Officer may designate, and shall perform such other duties as customarily pertain to such office as may be assigned from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer, subject, however, at all times to the supervision and control of the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, and subject further to any limitations which the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, may from time to time prescribe.

E. **General Counsel.** The General Counsel shall be the chief legal officer of the Authority and in that capacity shall advise and represent the Authority and its Trustees in their capacity as such generally in all legal matters and proceedings, including legislative proceedings, and possess such powers and shall have general supervision over the property, business and affairs of the legal office of the General Counsel and shall perform such other duties as customarily pertain to such office or as may be from time to time assigned by the Chief Executive Officer or the Trustees, subject, however, at all times to the supervision and control of the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, and the Trustees, and subject further to any limitations which the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the

duties of Chief Executive Officer, may from time to time prescribe.

F. **Secretary.** The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Trustees and act as Secretary thereof and record all votes and shall keep a record of the proceedings of the Trustees in a Minute Book to be kept for that purpose. The Secretary shall cause notice to be given of all meetings of the Trustees and shall be custodian of the records of the actions of the Trustees and shall keep in safe custody the seal of the Authority and shall have the authority to affix such seal to all documents and papers authorized to be executed by the Trustees or officers of the Authority requiring such seal to be affixed. The Secretary shall attest to the signatures of the Trustees and officers of the Authority and shall have the authority to cause copies to be made of all minutes, resolutions, records and documents of the Authority and to deliver certificates under seal to the effect that such copies are true and accurate and that all persons dealing with the Authority may rely on same. The Secretary shall possess such powers and perform such other duties as customarily pertain to the office or may be from time to time assigned by the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, subject, however, at all times to the supervision, control of and any limitations prescribed by the Chief Executive Officer, or the officer performing the duties of Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate.

G. **Controller.** The Controller shall be the principal accounting officer of the Authority, unless another individual shall be so designated by the Trustees. The Controller shall be responsible for maintaining the accounting records of the Authority and for preparing necessary financial reports and statements, and the Controller shall properly account for all moneys and obligations due the Authority and all properties, assets, and liabilities of the Authority. The Controller shall render to the Chief Executive Officer, or their designee, such periodic reports covering the result of operations of the Authority as may be required by Chief Executive Officer, or their designee. The Controller shall have such other duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Trustees or the Chief Executive Officer or their designee.

Section 8. **Personnel.** Subject to the restrictions of the LIPA Reform Act and any policies established by the Trustees, the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time appoint employees (other than those officers elected by the Trustees) as he or she may deem necessary to exercise the powers, duties and functions of the Authority as prescribed by law. The selection, qualification, and compensation of such employees shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the laws of the State of New York and any compensation policies established by the Trustees. The Chief Executive Officer shall report annually to the Trustees on the staffing of the Authority but retains sole authority to make all decisions related to employees that are not appointed by the Trustees.

Section 9. **Outside Experts.** Financial advisors, accountants, auditors, engineers, attorneys and other consultants may be retained on a contract basis or otherwise for rendering professional or technical services or advice by the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee consistent with the terms of the Authority's procurement guidelines. Such outside experts shall perform their designated duties under the direct supervision of the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee.

ARTICLE V

Committees

Section 1. **Finance and Audit Committee.** The Finance and Audit Committee shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law. To the extent practicable, its members shall be familiar with corporate financial and accounting practices and possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the Finance and Audit Committee.

The Finance and Audit Committee shall review and make recommendations to the Trustees as to the engagement of and compensation to be paid to the Authority’s independent certified accountants, who shall be selected in accordance with the LIPA Reform Act (or other applicable State law), and the Authority’s general accounting and internal control systems and policies and practices. The Finance and Audit Committee will have responsibility to directly oversee the performance of the audits performed by the Authority’s independent accountants and to review the results of the annual internal control review and changes in accounting policies that may be required. The Finance and Audit Committee will present these results and changes with their recommendation to the Trustees. Any audit of the Authority by the State or any other agency which is conducted and results in the issuance of interim and/or formal reports shall also be reported to the Finance and Audit Committee for conveyance to the Trustees. The Finance and Audit Committee shall also review and make recommendations concerning the Authority’s budgets, the management and investment of all funds of the Authority, the Authority’s financial and investment policies, and proposals for the issuance of debt by the Authority.

Section 2. **Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee.** The Governance, Planning and Personnel Committee (the “Governance Committee”) shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law and possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the Governance Committee. The Governance Committee shall keep the Trustees informed of current governance best practices, review corporate governance trends, update the Authority’s corporate governance policies, advise the Governor, Majority Leader of the Senate and Speaker of the Assembly on the skills and experience required of potential Trustees, examine ethical and conflict of interest issues, perform board self-evaluations, and recommend amendments to these By-laws.

Additionally, the Governance Committee shall review and make recommendations to the Board of Trustees with respect to monitoring the Authority's staffing needs and developing and monitoring the implementation of policies and procedures related to employment at the Authority, including those designed to attract and retain valuable employees. The Governance Committee shall recommend for approval by the Trustees the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer..

Section 3. **Oversight and Reforming the Energy Vision (“REV”) Committee.** The Oversight and REV Committee (the “Oversight Committee”) shall consist of not less than three (3) Trustees appointed by the Chair, all of whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of Section 2825(2) of the Public Authorities Law. The Oversight Committee shall be responsible for monitoring the service provider’s operational and financial performance, including oversight of the same provided by the staff of the Authority, and the implementation of recommendations made pursuant to management and operations audits. The Oversight Committee shall review the Authority’s operational and financial oversight process and report to the Trustees and others related to its findings. Additionally, the Oversight Committee shall remain knowledgeable and report to the Board on the principles, policies and recommendations of the New York Public Service Commission’s REV proceeding as a necessary part of carrying out the Authority’s obligations and oversight of its service provider.

Section 4. **Other Committees.** The Chair or the Trustees may appoint other committees which shall have and may exercise such powers as shall be authorized by the Chair or Trustees. For those Committees appointed by the Chair, notice of the purpose and scope of such committees will be provided to the Trustees.

Section 5. **Ex-Officio Committee Member.** For any committee appointed by the Chair or Trustees, the Chair shall be an ex-officio member who has the right, but not the obligation, to participate in the proceedings of the committees and vote on any action to be taken. Such ex-officio membership shall not, however, be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum of the committee exists, but the Chair’s vote shall be counted in determining whether a proposed committee action has been approved or disapproved by the requisite vote.

ARTICLE VI

Corporate Seal

Section 1. **Seal.** The seal of the Authority shall be a design symbolizing its activities and shall be surrounded by the words “Long Island Power Authority” as shown by the following impression of such seal:



ARTICLE VII

Fiscal Management

Section 1. **Fiscal Year.** The Trustees shall have the power to fix, and may from time to time change by resolution, the fiscal year of the Authority. Unless otherwise fixed by the Trustees, the calendar year shall be the fiscal year.

Section 2. **Budgets.** The Trustees shall adopt such operations and maintenance budgets and capital budgets as necessary to support the Authority's and any subsidiaries' operations and departments, in accordance with the LIPA Reform Act.

Section 3. **Expenditure and Contract Authorization Procedures.** The Trustees shall adopt expenditure and contract authorization procedures which shall govern the budget, contract executions and all approved authorizations.

ARTICLE VIII

Execution of Instruments

Section 1. **Execution of Instruments.** The Chief Executive Officer, except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, may authorize any officer, employee or agent (including himself) to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Authority, and such power to execute and deliver may be general or specific; unless so authorized and except as otherwise provided herein, no officer, employee or agent shall have any power or authority to bind the Authority by any contract or engagement or pledge its credit or to render it liable pecuniarily for any purpose or in any amount.

ARTICLE IX

Amendment

Section 1. **Amendment.** The Trustees shall have the power to amend, alter or repeal any provision or provisions of these By-Laws at any meeting; provided that written notice of the intention to consider a resolution amending the By-Laws shall have been given to all Trustees at least three (3) days prior to such meeting.

ARTICLE X

Indemnification of Trustees, Officers and Employees

Section 1. **Purpose and Definitions.** The purpose of this Article is to provide for indemnification of Trustees, officers and employees of the Authority so as to encourage the service of the most competent and civic-minded persons to effectuate the purposes of the Act. In this Article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below:

(1) "action or proceeding" shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, the investigation, preparation, defense, settlement and appeal of any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative,

arbitrative or investigative;

(2) “party to an action or proceeding” means a person made, or threatened to be made, a defendant or respondent or otherwise a party in an action or proceeding, and includes a person called upon, voluntarily or by subpoena, to give testimony, produce documents or respond to interrogatories in connection with any action or proceeding;

(3) “Trustee” means each Trustee of the Authority appointed pursuant to the LIPA Reform Act, including the Trustee designated as Chair;

(4) “officer” means each officer of the Authority hired pursuant to the LIPA Act and these By-Laws;

(5) “employee” means each employee of the Authority who is not also an officer;

(6) “Trustee,” “officer” and “employee” of the Authority each includes persons who formerly served in such capacity and the estates of deceased persons who had served in such capacity, and the legal or personal representative of such persons;

(7) “Authority” shall include any wholly owned subsidiary created or acquired in accordance with section 1020-i of the LIPA Act; and

(8) “applicable standard of conduct” means that the Trustee, officer or employee seeking to be indemnified hereunder acted (or omitted to take action) in good faith for a purpose which he or she reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the authority and, in criminal actions or proceedings, had reasonable cause to believe his or her action or inaction was lawful; and in no case shall any acts or omissions by the Trustee, officer or employee which may be determined to constitute negligence, recklessness, or gross negligence be deemed violative of the applicable standard of conduct. Furthermore, the termination of any action or proceeding by judgment, settlement, conviction or upon plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not in itself create a presumption that any such Trustee, officer or employee did not act in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct.

Section 2. General Scope of Indemnification. The Authority hereby confers the benefits of Section 18 of the New York Public Officers Law (“POL § 18”) on the Authority’s Trustees, officers and employees and agrees to be held liable for the costs thereof. Further, the Authority shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, but not limited to, POL § 18, indemnify and hold harmless any person who becomes a party to an action or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a Trustee, officer or employee of the Authority against judgments, penalties, amounts paid in settlement and reasonable expenses, including attorney’s fees actually and necessarily incurred as a result thereof, unless the conduct of such Trustee, officer or employee in the matters at issue in such action or proceeding is found by a final judgment of a court of applicable jurisdiction, in the manner prescribed in the Article, not to have met the applicable standard of conduct.

Neither the failure of the Authority (including its Trustees or counsel) to have made a determination that the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses is entitled to indemnification or advancement of expenses in the circumstances nor an actual determination by the Authority (including its Trustees or independent legal counsel) that the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses is not so entitled shall be a defense to an action or

create a presumption that the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses is not so entitled.

Section 3. Representation of Persons Indemnified. Where not otherwise inconsistent with law, the Authority may, either by its own in-house counsel or by outside counsel of its choice, assume the representation of any person entitled to indemnification by the Authority who becomes a party to an action or proceeding, except in situations in which the Authority's Chief Executive Officer or counsel determines that it is a conflict or otherwise inappropriate or inadvisable for such person to be represented by counsel chosen by the Authority. In the event that the Authority does not assume such representation, such person shall have the right to engage private counsel of his or her choice and the Authority shall have the obligation of indemnification for the reasonable fees and expenses of such private counsel as provided in this Article; provided however, that the Authority as a condition to such indemnification for the cost of private counsel may, and where the Attorney General has so required as a condition to indemnification by the State of New York shall, require appropriate groups of persons to be represented by the same counsel except when there is a conflict.

Section 4. Advances of Expenses

(a) A Trustee, officer or employee who becomes a party to an action or proceeding may request that the Authority advance expenses pending the final disposition of such action or proceeding. Upon such request, the Authority shall promptly pay, from time to time in advance of the final disposition of the action or proceeding, reasonable expenses as described in Section 2 of this Article X incurred by such Trustee, officer or employee in connection with such action or proceeding.

(b) The Authority shall require each person receiving amounts under paragraph (a) of this Section 4 to agree in writing that the same shall be repaid if the person receiving such advance is ultimately found not to be entitled to indemnification, or to the extent the expenses so advanced by the Authority exceed the indemnification to which he or she is ultimately found to be entitled.

Section 5. Indemnification on Final Disposition

(a) A person who has been wholly successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of an action or proceeding shall be deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct and shall be entitled to indemnification against reasonable expenses as described in Section 2, and the Authority shall make such indemnification without necessity for any authorization, findings or other action by the Trustees prior to such indemnification.

(b) A Trustee, officer or employee who has not been wholly successful in the defense of an action or proceeding, or who was a party to an action or proceeding without being a defendant or respondent therein, may request indemnification from the Authority. Upon such request: (i) if there is a quorum of Trustees who are not parties to such action or proceeding, the Board shall make a finding as to whether the requesting Trustee, officer or employee has met the applicable standard of conduct; or (ii) if such a quorum of Trustees is not obtainable with due diligence, the Board shall obtain an opinion in writing of outside legal counsel as to whether

such standard of conduct has been met by the requesting Trustee, officer or employee. If a quorum of Trustees makes such finding or outside legal counsel gives such opinion, the Board shall authorize, and the Authority shall make, indemnification as provided in Section 2, upon a determination by the Trustees (or a person or body designated by the Trustees) that expenses sought to be indemnified were reasonable and actually and necessarily incurred as a result of the action or proceeding, and that any amounts paid in settlement (unless approved by the Trustees prior to such settlement) were reasonable in the circumstances.

Section 6. **Insurance.** The Authority may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any Trustee, officer or employee of the Authority against any expense, liability or loss sought to be indemnified, whether or not the Authority would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under this Article.

Section 7. **Applicability of this Article**

(a) This Article is to be construed liberally in favor of each Trustee, officer or employee to the fullest extent permitted by law, and any ambiguity, uncertainty or reasonable doubt as to facts, interpretation or legal conclusions shall be resolved in favor of such Trustee, officer or employee.

(b) The provisions of this Article shall not impair, limit or modify the rights and obligations of any insurer under any policy of insurance.

(c) The provisions of this Article shall be in addition to and shall not supplant any indemnification by the State heretofore or hereafter conferred upon any Trustee, officer or employee by section 1020-bb of the LIPA Act, by applicable provisions of the Public Officers Law, or otherwise. The indemnification hereby granted by the Authority shall be in addition to and not in restriction or limitation of any other privilege or power which the Authority may lawfully exercise with respect to the indemnification or reimbursement of Trustees, officers or employees.

(d) Unless and until this Article shall be amended, supplemented or repealed in accordance with Article IX, including, without limitation, paragraph (e) below, the provisions of this Article shall constitute a contract between the Authority and each Trustee, officer or employee for indemnification in accordance with the provisions of this Article, which contract shall survive the termination of the term of service of such Trustee, officer or employee. In the event that any Trustee, officer or employee shall be aggrieved by a determination of the Authority or the Trustees or outside counsel made under this Article, or by a failure of the Authority or Trustees to act as provided herein, he or she shall be entitled to seek appropriate relief against the Authority in any court of competent jurisdiction within the State of New York in accordance with the standards for indemnification set forth herein.

(e) This Article shall be applicable to any claim for indemnification made after its adoption as a By-Law of the Authority, whether the action or proceeding to which such claim relates commenced, or the matters at issue therein occurred, before or after the adoption of this Article. It is contemplated that no subsequent amendment, supplement or repeal of this Article which deprives a Trustee, officer or employee of any substantial right or benefit conferred herein

will be made applicable with respect to any claim for indemnification arising out of conduct of such Trustee, officer or employee occurring or alleged to have occurred after the adoption of this Article and prior to such amendment, supplement or repeal.

(f) The provisions of this Article are severable, and if any section, provision, or clause of this Article or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is held unconstitutional or invalid in whole or in part by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding of unconstitutionality or invalidity shall in no way affect or impair any other section, provision or clause of this Article or the application of any such provision to such person or circumstances or to any other person or circumstance; and the Authority shall nevertheless indemnify each Trustee, officer or employee to the fullest extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated, or by any other applicable law.

ARTICLE XI

Miscellaneous

Section 1. **Employment Contracts.** The Authority may enter into employment contracts with one or more officers of the Authority.

Section 2. **Annual Reports.** The Authority shall submit and make available an annual report, as prescribed by the Public Authorities Law, within ninety days after the close of the fiscal year. The annual report shall be certified in writing by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with Section 2800 of the Public Authorities Law.

Section 3. **Severability.** In case any one or more of the provisions of these By-Laws shall for any reason be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of these By-Laws and the By-Laws shall be construed as if such illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained herein.

Section 4. **Governing Law.** These By-Laws shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of New York.